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Plaintiff, IHOP IP, LLC, by and through its attorneys of record, alleges as 

follows: 

Jurisdiction And Venue 

1. This is an action arising under the trademark laws of the United 

States, specifically the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq.  This Court has 

subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1338(a).  This Court has personal jurisdiction over IHOP-KC because it conducts 

business in this judicial district and in the State of California, and has and 

continues to commit acts of dilution and trademark infringement and/or has 

contributed to or induced acts of dilution or trademark infringement by others in 

this judicial district (and elsewhere in California and in the United States).  

2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the other Defendants 

because they reside in this judicial district and conduct business in this judicial 

district and/or in the State of California, and have and continue to commit acts of 

dilution and trademark infringement, and/or has contributed to or induced acts of 

dilution and trademark infringement by others in this judicial district (or elsewhere 

in California and in the United States).  

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§  

1391(b) because Defendants are each subject to personal jurisdiction in this 

judicial district, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim 

occurred here, among other reasons. 

 
Parties 

4. Plaintiff IHOP IP, LLC is a limited liability company organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal place of 
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business at 450 North Brand Boulevard, 7th Floor, Glendale, California  91203, 

www.ihop.com (“IHOP-IP”). 

5. Upon information and belief, Defendants International House of 

Prayer dba IHOP-KC or IHOP Missions Base, Friends of the Bridegroom, Inc. and 

Shiloh Ministries, Inc. are all non-profit corporations organized and existing under 

the laws of the State of Missouri, with their principal place of business at 3535 

East Red Bridge Road, Kansas City, Missouri  64137, www.ihop.org (collectively 

“IHOP-KC”).   

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Central Coast International 

House of Prayer, doing business as (Central Coast) IHOP (Missions Base), is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California, with 

its principal place of business at 709 N. Curryer, Santa Maria, California, 

www.ccihop.com (“CCIHOP”).   

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Pasadena International 

House of Prayer, doing business as PIHOP, is a corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business at 

1401 North Lake Avenue, Pasadena, California  91104, www.pihop.com 

(“PIHOP”). 

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant San Jose International 

House of Prayer, is an unknown entity, with its principal place of business at 2165 

Lucretia Ave., San Jose, California 95122, www.sjihop.org (“SJIHOP”).   

9. Upon information and belief, Defendant International House of 

Prayer East Bay, doing business as IHOP East Bay, is an unknown entity, with its 

principal place of business at 7485 Village Parkway, Dublin, California  94568, 

www.ihopeastbay.org (“IHOPEB”). 
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10. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, 

associate, representative or otherwise, of DOES 1 through 20, inclusive, are 

unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues them by such fictitious names.  Plaintiff 

will seek leave to amend this complaint to show the true names and capacities of 

the Defendants when they are ascertained.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and 

thereupon alleges, that each of the Defendants named as a DOE, along with the 

named Defendants, is responsible in some manner for the occurrences herein 

alleged, and that Plaintiff's damages herein alleged were legally or proximately 

caused by said Defendants.  Wherever it is alleged that any act or omission was 

also done or committed by any specifically named Defendant or by Defendants 

generally, Plaintiff intends thereby to allege, and does allege, that the same act or 

omission was also done and committed by each and every Defendant named as a 

DOE, and each named Defendant, both separately and in concert or conspiracy 

with the named Defendants.  

11. On information and belief, and at all times mentioned herein, each of  

the Defendants named herein as DOES 1 through 20, inclusive, performed, 

participated in or abetted in some manner the acts alleged herein, proximately 

caused the damages alleged herein below, and are liable to Plaintiff for the 

damages and relief sought herein.   

 

Plaintiff’s Famous Trademarks 

12. The first International House of Pancakes restaurant opened in 

Toluca Lake, California in 1958, and in 1960 the company began to expand 

through franchising.  In 1973 a marketing program formally introduced the 

acronym “IHOP.”   
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13. The IHOP chain of restaurants grew and prospered.  In 1992 the 500th 

IHOP restaurant opened.  In 1993 sales per IHOP restaurant exceeded $1 million, 

and in 1998, for the first time, system-wide sales of IHOP reached $1 billion.  For 

many years International House of Pancakes enjoyed substantially exclusive use of 

the term IHOP in commerce in the United States.   

14. Presently there are nearly 1500 IHOP restaurants in the United 

States, including at least one in every state in the U.S.  In California alone, there 

are about 225 IHOP restaurants, including about 130 IHOP restaurants in this 

judicial district.  Many IHOP restaurants are open 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 

and are operated by independent small business owners who rely heavily on the 

reputation and strength of the IHOP trademark in connection with their business.   

15. Over the years the IHOP trademark has been extensively advertised 

and publicized across the United States.  The mark is widely recognized among the 

general consuming public in the U.S. as a designation of the goods and services of 

International House of Pancakes, and has been famous for more than 25 years.        

16. Plaintiff IHOP-IP, LLC is the owner of a family of IHOP derivative 

registered trademarks in the United States, and internationally, including U.S. Reg. 

No. 3,429,406 IHOP for restaurant services; U.S. Reg. No. 3,514,724 

INTERNATIONAL HOUSE OF PANCAKES for restaurant services, carry out 

food services; U.S. Reg. No. 3,743,560 IHOP FOR ME for restaurant services; 

U.S. Reg. No. 3,731,730 IHOP CAFÉ for restaurant services, carry-out café and 

restaurant services, coffee house services; U.S. Reg. No.: 3,616,420 IHOP ‘N GO 

for restaurant services, take out restaurant services; U.S. Reg. No.: 3,771,927 

IHOP EXPRESS for restaurant and food take-out restaurant services.  See 

information attached at Exhibit A.   
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Defendants’ Unlawful Activities 

 17. Defendant IHOP-KC operates a religious organization from Kansas 

City, Missouri.  Upon information and belief, IHOP-KC selected and adopted the 

International House of Prayer name, knowing it would be abbreviated IHOP.  

IHOP-KC intended to misappropriate the fame and notoriety of the household 

name IHOP to help promote and make recognizable their religious organization.   

 18. The organization now offers prayer services on a full 24/7 schedule, 

with services from the IHOP-KC Prayer Room being broadcast live over the 

internet.  Mike Bickle, IHOP-KC’s founder and director, states “30,000 people a 

day are participating with IHOP due to web streaming,” including, upon 

information and belief, many persons in this judicial district.   

 19. IHOP-KC regularly offers many events in Greater Kansas City and 

elsewhere including training programs, workshops, regional camps, and leadership 

retreats.  From Sep. 26 – Oct. 9, 2010 IHOP-KC is sponsoring a prayer journey 

through California with stops in Los Angeles, the Inland Empire and Orange 

County, all within this judicial district. 

 20. IHOP-KC operates IHOP University (IHOPU), a full time bible 

school.  IHOPU also offers an eSchool and online courses to train persons 

worldwide, including, upon information and belief, persons who reside in this 

judicial district.  IHOP-KC also accepts donations online, including, upon 

information and belief, from persons in this judicial district.    

 21. IHOP-KC operates a web store selling books, teaching materials, 

music, accessories (t-shirts, sweatshirts, water bottles, a board game, etc.), to 

persons worldwide including, upon information and belief, persons in this judicial 
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district.  IHOP-KC also operates a coffee shop/café serving food and beverages at 

its main facility in Kansas City.   

 22. IHOP-KC uses social media to spread its religious message.  By way 

of example, IHOP-KC has about 75,000 Facebook fans; 1200 YouTube 

subscribers with 30,000 channel views; and 8,500 followers on Twitter, including, 

upon information and belief, many persons in this judicial district.   

 23. IHOP-KC routinely uses the acronym IHOP to refer to itself, as do the 

press and many members of the public.  Several persons have remarked that 

confusion exists due to IHOP-KC’s use of IHOP, e.g. saying it is not the pancake 

house.   

 24. IHOP-KC is affiliated with numerous other religious organizations 

around the world, and allows and encourages those organizations to use the IHOP 

acronym to identify themselves and ihop derivative domain names.  In light of 

IHOP-KC’s expansion of its unauthorized use of IHOP, Plaintiff must act to 

protect its trademark rights.    

 25.  Attached hereto as Exhibit B are true and correct copies of IHOP-KC 

web pages and photographs of IHOP-KC signage and use of IHOP on printed 

materials.   

 26. Defendant CCIHOP is a religious organization located in Santa Maria, 

California in this judicial district that offers religious-oriented services.  Upon 

information and belief, CCIHOP is affiliated with IHOP-KC.   

 27. Attached hereto at Exhibit C are true and correct copies of CCIHOP 

web pages and a photo of CCIHOP signage.  
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 28. Defendant PIHOP is a religious organization located in Pasadena, 

California in this judicial district that offers religious-oriented services.  Upon 

information and belief, CCIHOP is affiliated with IHOP-KC.   

 29. Attached hereto at Exhibit D are true and correct copies of PIHOP 

web pages, and PIHOP printed materials and an email from PIHOP. 

 30. Defendant SJIHOP is a religious organization located in Santa Jose, 

California that offers religious-oriented services.  Upon information and belief, 

SJIHOP is affiliated with IHOP-KC.   

 31. Attached hereto at Exhibit E are true and correct copies of SJIHOP 

web pages. 

32. Defendant IHOPEB is a religious organization located in Dublin, 

California that offers religious-oriented services.  Upon information and belief, 

IHOPEB is affiliated with IHOP-KC.   

 33. Attached hereto at Exhibit F are true and correct copies of IHOPEB 

web pages. 

 

Count One  

Trademark Dilution (15 U.S.C §1125(c)) 

(Against all Defendants) 

 34. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein the allegations of 

paragraphs 1-33 as if fully set forth herein. 

 35, Plaintiff’s IHOP mark is distinctive and famous within the meaning of 

15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(1).   

36. Defendants’ wrongful acts as described herein began long after the 

Plaintiff’s IHOP mark became famous.   
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37. Defendants’ acts are likely to cause dilution by blurring Plaintiff’s 

famous IHOP mark and otherwise have impaired the distinctiveness of this 

trademark.   

38. Upon information and belief, Defendants willfully intended to trade 

on the reputation of Plaintiff’s famous IHOP mark and to cause dilution of 

Plaintiff’s famous IHOP mark.   

39. Defendants’ wrongful acts have caused and will continue to cause 

great and irreparable injury and damage to Plaintiff’s IHOP mark and to the 

goodwill in the famous IHOP mark, which injury and damage cannot be 

quantified, and unless this court restrains Defendants’ from further commission of 

said acts, Plaintiff will continue to suffer substantial irreparable injury for which it 

has no adequate remedy at law.   

40. As the acts alleged herein constitute a willful violation of Section 

43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c), and as Plaintiff has no adequate 

remedy at law, it is entitled to injunctive relief, as well as, reasonable attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 

41.  Under the Trademark Dilution Revision Act of 2006 (which went into 

effect October 6, 2010), Plaintiff is entitled to an injunction against Defendants, 

enjoining them from use of the IHOP marks or any designation likely to cause 

dilution. 

 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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Count Two  

Infringement of Federally Registered Trademarks (15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)) 

(Against All Defendants) 

 

 42. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates herein the allegations of 

paragraphs 1-41 as if fully set forth herein. 

43. Defendants, without Plaintiff’s consent, have used trademarks 

confusingly similar to and a colorable imitation of Plaintiff’s IHOP mark in 

commerce on or in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, 

promotion and/or advertising of its goods and services, and such use is likely to 

cause confusion, or to cause mistake or to deceive.   

 44. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ acts have been committed 

willfully and with knowledge of Plaintiff’s exclusive rights in the IHOP mark, as 

well as with bad faith and the intent to cause confusion, or to cause mistake and/or 

to deceive.   

 45. Defendants’ wrongful acts have caused and will continue to cause 

great and irreparable injury and damage to Plaintiff’s IHOP mark and to the 

goodwill in the famous IHOP mark, which injury and damage cannot be 

quantified, and unless this court restrains Defendants’ from further commission of 

said acts, Plaintiff will continue to suffer substantial irreparable injury for which it 

has no adequate remedy at law.    

46. As the acts alleged herein constitute a willful violation of Section 

43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1), and as Plaintiff has no adequate 

remedy at law, it is entitled to injunctive relief, as well as, reasonable attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 
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Prayer For Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff IHOP-IP, prays for judgment and relief as follows: 

A) Judgment that Plaintiff owns the IHOP® registered mark and it is valid 

and enforceable;  

B) Judgment that each of the Defendants are diluting by blurring the IHOP® 

mark and such acts have been deliberate and willful; 

C) Judgment that each of the Defendants are infringing the IHOP® mark, 

and that IHOP-KC’s acts have been deliberate and willful; 

D) Judgment that each of the Defendants, its directors, officers, employees, 

attorneys, and agents, and all those persons acting in active concert or in 

participation with them, and their successors and assigns, be enjoined 

from further acts that dilute or infringe, contributorily infringe or induce 

infringement of the IHOP® mark; 

E) Judgment that the ihop.org domain name be transferred to Plaintiff; 

F) Judgment that Defendants, and each of them, shall file with the court and 

serve on Plaintiff a written report stating what actions they have taken to 

comply with the Court’s injunction, and said report shall be due within 

thirty (30) days after entry of the injunction;  

G) Judgment that this case is exceptional, and that the Defendant IHOP-KC 

be ordered to pay all of Plaintiff's attorney fees associated with this 

action;  

H) Judgment that the Defendants individually and collectively be ordered to 

pay all costs and expenses incurred by Plaintiff associated with this 

action; and. 

 
























































































